
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Notice of a public  
 

Decision Session - Executive Member for Health and Adult Social 
Care 

 
To: Councillor Runciman (Executive Member) 

 
Date: Wednesday, 16 October 2019 

 
Time: 12.00 noon 

 
Venue: The Thornton Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G039) 

 
AGENDA 

 

Notice to Members – Post Decision Calling In: 
  
Members are reminded that, should they wish to call in any item* on 
this agenda, notice must be given to Democratic Services by 4:00 pm 
on Friday, 18 October 2019. 
  
*With the exception of matters that have been the subject of a 
previous call in, require Full Council approval or are urgent which are 
not subject to the call-in provisions. Any called in items will be 
considered by the Customer & Corporate Services Scrutiny 
Management Committee. 

 
Written representations in respect of items on this agenda should be 
submitted to Democratic Services by 5pm on Monday, 14 October 
2019. 

 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, the Executive Member is asked to 

declare: 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests, 

 any prejudicial interests or 

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 



 

 which she may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 4) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the Decision Session held on 

14 February 2019.   
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting, members of the public who have 

registered to speak can do so. The deadline for registering is 
5.00pm on Tuesday, 15 October 2019.  Members of the public 
can speak on agenda items or matters within the Executive 
Member’s remit.  To register to speak please contact the 
Democracy Officer for the meeting, on the details at the foot of 
the agenda. 
 
Filming, Recording or Webcasting Meetings 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this meeting will 
be filmed and webcast ,or recorded, including any registered 
public speakers, who have given their permission. The broadcast 
can be viewed at http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts or, if 
recorded, this will be uploaded onto the Council’s website 
following the meeting. 
 
Residents are welcome to photograph, film or record Councillors 
and Officers at all meetings open to the press and public. This 
includes the use of social media reporting, i.e. tweeting.  Anyone 
wishing to film, record or take photos at any public meeting 
should contact the Democracy Officer (contact details are at the 
foot of this agenda) in advance of the meeting. 
 
The Council’s protocol on Webcasting, Filming & Recording of 
Meetings ensures that these practices are carried out in a 
manner both respectful to the conduct of the meeting and all 
those present.  It can be viewed at  
 
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/11406/protocol_for_webc
asting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809  
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809
https://www.york.gov.uk/downloads/file/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809


 

4. Older Persons Accommodation Engagement 
Results and Future Actions   

(Pages 5 - 30) 

 This report presents the results of a survey undertaken to better 
understand the accommodation needs of the city’s older 
residents and, outlines how this research can shape the future 
work of the Older Persons Accommodation Programme and 
seeks approval to implement the recommendations of the 
research. 
 

5. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Executive Member considers 

urgent under the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
 

Democracy Officer: 
Angela Bielby 
Telephone No- 01904 552599 
Email- A.Bielby@york.gov.uk 
 
 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
Contact details are set out above. 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Decision Session - Executive Member for 
Adult Social Care and Health 

Date 14 February 2019 

Present Councillor Runciman 

 

9. Declarations of Interest  
 

The Executive Member confirmed that she had not personal 
interests not included on the Register of Interests, nor any 
prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests, to declare in the 
business on the agenda. 
 

10. Minutes  
 

Resolved: That the minutes of the Decision Session held on 15 
November 2018 be approved and signed by the 
Executive Member as a correct record. 

 

11. Public Participation  
 

It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at 
the session under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme. 
 

12. Sexual Health Services  
 

The Executive Member considered a report which sought 
approval to award a contract to York Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (the Trust) for the provision of sexual health services to 
York residents. 
 
On 12 July 2018, Executive had agreed to the procurement of a 
new service and authorised the Director of Public Health, in 
consultation with the Executive Member, to award a contract to 
the highest scoring bidder (Minute 18 of that meeting refers).  
The procurement had now been completed and the Trust’s bid 
had been successfully evaluated in accordance with the agreed 
criteria.  It was therefore recommended that the contract be 
awarded. 
 
In response to questions from the Executive Member, officers 
confirmed that: 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



 There was a robust process in place to monitor the 
contract performance, including quarterly meetings with 
the provider, key performance indicators and oversight by 
the YorOk Board and relevant Scrutiny committee. 

 The service specification had been ‘future proofed’ to 
ensure access for all sectors of the population. 

 The contract would be awarded for 3 years, with an option 
to extend it to up to 7 years subject to satisfactory 
performance. 

 
Resolved: That the Director of Public Health be authorised to 

award a contract to York Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust to provide sexual health services for City of 
York residents. 

 
Reason: To meet the council’s statutory responsibilities under 

the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and to enable 
sexual health services that are clinically safe, value 
for money and responsive to local need to be 
available to York residents. 

 

13. Citizens Advice York Service Level Agreement Renewal 
2019/20  
 

The Executive Member considered a report which sought 
approval for a further one-year funding agreement, to March 
2020 (not 2019 as indicated in the report), with Citizens Advice 
York (CAY, formerly CAB).  The Chief Executive of CAY was in 
attendance along with council officers. 
 
The proposal, as set out in the Service Level Agreement (SLA) 
at Annex A, was to roll forward the existing agreement, 
approved by the Executive Member on 15 March 2018, for one 
further year, with the addition of 2.5% inflation.  This would 
increase the core funding for CAY to £131,200.  Any longer term 
funding would be for the new administration to consider after the 
elections in May, but the next agreement should be for three 
years, within the council’s agreed budget provision. 
 
The Chief Executive of CAY reported on the effectiveness of the 
‘social prescribing’ approach, which aligned CAY services with 
those of GPs to help people with social problems affecting their 
health.  This had increased citizens’ income by £100k in the 
current year.   
 

Page 2



Resolved: That the one-year funding level and SLA at Annex A 
to the report be approved, subject to the reporting 
and performance conditions set down in the 
agreement.  

 
Reason: To demonstrate the delivery of expected outputs and 

accountability for public expenditure. 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr C Runciman, Executive Member 
[The meeting started at 12.03 pm and finished at 12.16 pm]. 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Decision Session - Executive Member for Health &      16 October 2019 

Adult Social Care 

 

Report of the Director of Health, Housing & Adult Social Care. 

Older Persons Accommodation Engagement Results and Future 
Actions. 

Summary 

1. To be able to better understand the accommodation needs of the 
city’s older residents and to establish what is important to people 
about how and where they live in their later years, officers have 
carried out an engagement and consultation programme. This report 
presents the results of the survey and outlines how the research can 
shape the future work of the Older Person’s Accommodation 
Programme. Approval is sought to implement the recommendations 
from the research. 

Background 

1. The Council’s Executive received a report on 29 November 2018 
setting out the current position in relation to older person’s 
accommodation in the city. Previous assessments of supply and 
demand for the different accommodation types have been shaped by 
national benchmarks, which may not directly reflect the requirements 
for York. The Executive approved community consultation and 
engagement to gather local views of where and how our residents 
want to live in their later years. It was anticipated that this would 
inform the development of York specific supply targets for each type 
of accommodation.  

2. The Older Person’s Accommodation programme appointed a summer 
intern from the University of York’s internship programme, who lead 
on the research and consultation. The research included an initial 
analysis of national data and research. With colleagues from across 
the council and partners from the housing and third sector a 
consultation programme and questionnaire were developed. 
Stakeholder groups and developers were contacted and asked what 
information would be of interest to them to help shape their work in 
the city. These responses were included in the research. The 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



consultation included an on line and paper survey, individual 
interviews and group discussions. The questions were trialled on a 
group of residents, and refined. The survey was also shared with 
members and partners at housing scrutiny committee, they made a 
number of recommendations which were incorporated into the 
research.  

3. The survey was sent to the city’s talkabout panel and advertised  
through social media, a press release, direct emailing to partners and 
stakeholder groups and was made available in libraries and 
community hubs (eg St Sampson centre). 

4. 406 survey responses were received, some representing the views of 
more than one resident. The majority of respondents were in the 60-
70 age bracket. More in depth responses were received through 
community and stakeholder discussion groups and individual 
conversations. Throughout the process we were keen to engage with 
key stakeholders including Age UK, York Older People’s Assembly 
and the Joseph Rowntree Housing Trust - they helped us to raise 
awareness of the survey and in some cases gave opinions.  This 
consultation period ran between the 15th of July and the 16th of 
August 2019.  

5. The full results of the survey are attached at Annex A. The initial 
results have been shared with key partners and they have been well 
received. The findings will be presenting to partners over the next few 
months, including the JRHT residents group and the Older Persons’ 
Accommodation Reference Group. 

Results     

6. Local population data suggests that the number of residents aged 75 
plus will increase from 18,500 in 2019 to 23,600 by 2030 which is an 
increase of 5,100 or 21%. The 60 plus population is projected to 
increase by 19.6% , while the largest increases can be found in the 
85 plus age group, this section of the population is projected to 
increase by 29%.   

7. The research identifies that there is a significant demand for age 
friendly homes, with 67% of respondents expressing a preference for 
some form of smaller, single level and accessible property. Although 
the most popular option was for people to stay in their own homes.  

Housing types National 
Recommended rates 
of provision for 
residents aged 75+ 

Residents 
preferences for 
their later years. 
(up to 3 choices) 

Page 6



Existing home  29% 

A smaller home, bungalow or 
apartment in the general 
community 

 22% 

A smaller home, bungalow or 
apartment within a scheme 
specifically for people aged 65+ 

 22% 

An apartment in an independent 
living scheme with communal 
lounge and activities 

12.5% 14% 

An apartment in an independent 
living scheme with communal 
lounge and activities with 24 
hour care on site (extra care 
accommodation)  

4.5% 9% 

A room or a suite in a residential 
care home, with all care, meals, 
cleaning and activities included. 

11%  (this figure includes 
both residential and 
nursing care 
accommodation) 

4% 

 

8. It is clear that the city’s residents are interested in alternative property 
types and are keen to consider a range of accommodation options. 
The Executive report in November 2018 highlighted that by 2030 the 
city is likely to have a significant shortage of both extra care and 
independent living accommodation. This research indicates that the 
demand for these properties is likely to be higher than had previously 
been estimated. These findings also indicate a demand for retirement 
communities and an increased number of age appropriate properties 
in the general community.  

9. Residents were also unanimous that it was important for them to be 
able to make the decision on where and when to move home 
themselves rather than waiting for their family or careers to make 
choices for them when they are reliant on others.  

10. Respondents also highlighted that if they were going to move then 
they would like to do this at a time when they were still able to enjoy 
their new home. Having access to outdoor and private space was 
considered very important. 

11. While residents identified a range of barriers to moving, including cost 
as the most frequently mentioned, the most consistent message from 
almost all responses and conversations was that people are unaware 
of the options that are available to them. Many of the types of 

Page 7



accommodation people spoke about wanting to see in York already 
exist in the City. People also spoke about services such as home 
packing assistance which are also already operating in the City. One 
of the most significant findings of the research is that our residents 
are not aware of the different property types, or tenures and that 
there is not sufficiently accessible information about the rightsizing 
process and the support available. 

12. Respondents were very receptive to the idea of assistive technology 
in their homes, with 83% saying that they would be comfortable with 
it. Respondents were particularly interested in automated reminders 
(for medication, drinks and meals), sensors to show movement and 
voice activated alarms for assistance. 73% of respondents said that 
they would be happy for the data from their sensors to be accessible 
to their family. This would help to give family member assurance that 
they had information about how their relatives were managing in their 
homes.   

13. We have already responded to the results of the research as we have 
begun the process of updating the booklets and materials that are 
available to people. 

Conclusions. 

14. There is a need for a mixed range of housing types and tenures 

specifically for older residents. While 81% of the city’s residents aged 

75+ are home owners there is currently no specific requirement in the 

city’s planning policies which would require developers to provide 

small, accessible, age appropriate accommodation within their 

schemes. To meet the demand for these properties and address the 

significant demand for market sale properties it is recommended that 

work is done to share these results with developers wanting to build 

in the city and work is done to consider how planning policies could 

be amended to reflect this need.  

15. To support and enable independent living for life opportunities to 

encourage the use of assistive technology should be explored both in 

new properties and in existing properties.   

16. There is a need for more information, advice and assistance to inform 

people of the accommodation options available to them and their 

families and to help them make the move. 

Page 8



17. The consultation results report attached at annex A makes a number 

of detailed recommendations. These recommendations ought to be 

shared widely with partners and stakeholders across the city.  

Action Plan 

18. To address all of the points raised in this consultation the Council, 

developers and partners will have to work together to provide 

appropriate accommodation in suitable locations, designed 

specifically to meet the needs of older people. The Council can play a 

leading role in this work and the table below sets out how the Council 

can begin to take action in response to residents’ views. 

Findings and 

Recommendation 

CYC actions 

67% of residents have 

expressed an interest in 

living in a small, safe 

manageable single storey 

property in their later years.  

 Consider setting a 10% target of this type of 

housing in the Council’s Housing delivery 

programme schemes. 

 Work with Houisng and planning policy teams to 

ensure that the need for older person’s 

accommodation is reflected in our planning 

policies. 

 Continue to develop independent living and 

extra care housing schemes to address the 

need for these properties. 

 Recommend York specific benchmarks for each 

accommodation type. 

There is insufficient 

information available about 

the benefits of rightsizing and 

the opportunities available. 

 Work has now begun to create general 

information about extra care apartments and how 

they can meet resident’s needs. This will then be 

accompanied by individual brochures for the 

Council’s extra care developments and those of 

our partners. 

 Share the results of the research with 

stakeholders and partners and encourage them 

to continue having conversations about 

accommodation with their members and 

customers. 

 Train front line staff about the accommodation 

opportunities for our older residents and 

Page 9



encourage them to share information widely.  

 Ensure that printed and electronic information is 

easily accessible and jargon free.  

Residents have expressed 

an interest in taking 

advantage of assistive 

technology to support their 

independence. 

 Explore opportunities to promote the use of 

existing technology to support independence and 

delay the need to care support. 

 Consider how accommodation design should be 

adapted to integrate future technology to support 

independence. 

 Work with partners to attract funding and skills to 

develop technology to meet our residents’ needs. 

 Provide staff training to support the use of 

everyday modern technology to support 

independence. 

 

Equalities  

19. The research was carried out to reach a wide cross section of the 

city’s population. Responses were received from residents of all of 

the wards in the city. The consultation included questions about 

whether LGBTQ+ respondents would like to live in a community 

specifically with others from that community. Only 6% of this groups 

said yes, but the need for staff training to understand the community 

was specifically highlighted.  

20. Each element of the programme will be accompanied by a best 

decision making assessment and wide consultation. 

Recommendations 

21. The Executive Member is recommended to: 

 Accept the results of the older person’s accommodation research 

and agree to share these results with partners and stakeholder 

across the city. 

 Approve the implementation of the actions set out above. 

 

Page 10



Annexes 

Annex A - Draft Consultation results report.  

 

Contact Details 

Author: Chief Officer responsible for the 

report: 

Vicky Japes 

Head of Older Persons’ 

Accommodation Programme  

Tel: 01904 553382 

vicky.japes@york.gov.uk 

Philip Pyke 

Older Person’s Accommodation 

Programme Intern 

Tom Brittain 

Assistant Director for Housing & 

Community Safety 

 

Report Approved √ Date 8/10/

19 

Specialist Implications Officer(s)   

None 

Wards Affected:  All 

 

Page 11

mailto:roy.wallington@york.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Annex A 

Older Persons’ Accommodation Survey and Consultation 2019 

York has a long and proud tradition of providing older residents with the accommodation they need 

and want. From a 10th century almshouse and medieval St Leonard’s hospital, the city is now home 

to a range of options including independent living schemes and Hartrigg Oaks, a European exemplar 

of a retirement village. 

Support to live independently in the right kind of housing can keep people healthy for longer and can 

reduce the need for home care or residential care.  City of York Council’s Older Person’s 

Accommodation Programme recognises that housing needs and preferences change with age and 

people may want or need to make adaptations to how and where they live.  We also recognise that 

there is a need to generate York-specific data so that we can best meet the needs and aspirations of 

York residents in the future. 

This summer, City of York Council talked to over 500 residents to gain a better understanding of the 

priorities and preferences of York residents when thinking about accommodation for later life.  To 

refresh our Older People’s Accommodation Programme, data was drawn from a survey as well as 

consultation and engagement events with advocacy groups, interest groups and community groups.  

We also conducted in depth interviews with a number of York residents to gain a deeper insight into 

their survey answers.  We believe that this approach provided us with a rich source of data which 

can help to inform a practical and effective older persons’ housing strategy. 

National and local context 

To best understand the findings of our research it is useful to first consider the national context of 

accommodation for older people and the UK’s ageing population.  By 2022 it is expected that 6.6 

million people in the UK will be aged 75 or older.  Predictions by the Office for National Statistics 

suggest that the number of people aged 65 and over will increase by more than 20% from 11.4 

million in 2014 to 13.8 million by 2024.  It has also been predicted that the 65+ age group will 

increase from 16% of the total UK population in 2004 to 25% by 2044.  As a consequence there will 

be further increases in demand for accommodation for older people in the very near future. 

However, current demand already outstrips supply with figures for Age UK suggesting that of the 

128,000 retirement homes built for private sale, there were over 1 million people who would 

consider moving into one.  Furthermore research by the Elderly Accommodation Council (EAC) found 

that whilst there are currently around 520 000 units of specialist housing which offer some degree of 

support or care, there will be a national shortfall of around 400 000 units of specialist 

accommodation for older people by 2035. 

Evidence from the 2011 census shows that York’s older population has grown in recent years, 

specifically the 85+ age group.  Whilst this is likely to be part due to people living longer there is also 

some suggestion that cuts to public transport in North Yorkshire and the East Riding has prompted 

older people from rural areas who no longer drive to move into towns, particularly those with 

hospital facilities.  Consequently York has become a net importer of older people and the provision 

of accommodation for this age group has become more pressing over recent years. 

Within an ageing population older people are now key players in the wider housing market.  

According to the Local Government Association older people live in around a third of all homes and 

the ageing population will account for around 60% of household growth with the greatest increase in 

the 85+ age group.  Research by Age UK and Independent Age shows that as they age older people 

and their families face considerable problems accessing information on housing and care options.    

Page 13



Annex A 

 According to the National House Building Council (NHBC) Foundation there is evidence to suggest 

that there is a willingness amongst older people to pay a premium for to gain the benefits of a good 

quality retirement home.  It is thought that 72% of owner occupiers in this age group are living in 

homes with three or more bedrooms and nearly a third of whom are in single occupancy.  Releasing 

these large dwellings back into available stock would cascade homes down through all age and need 

profiles.  However, levels of retirement homes built for sale have been low and do not reflect the 

significant numbers of people who say they would consider moving to a retirement property.  It is 

estimated that if people lived in homes more suited to their needs then 50 000 fewer additional 

homes would need to be built each year. 

Current data on the population of York suggests that the number of York residents aged 60+ will 

increase from 49 340 in 2019 to 58 300 in 2029.  This increase of 8,960 represents a 19.6% increase 

in this population over the next ten years.  Over the next twenty years this population is predicted to 

rise by 26.2% to 62 300.  The 75+ age group is expected to increase from 18,500 in 2019 to 23 600, 

this is an increase of 5100 or 21% of this population.  One of the largest increases can be found in 

the 85+ age group which is predicted to grow by 31% from 5,500 to 7,100 between 2019 and 2029. 

Consequently it can be reasonably assumed that demand for age appropriate accommodation to 

meet the needs of the York’s ageing population will continue to rapidly increase over the next 

decade and beyond.  

 

Methodology 

Data collection for the Older Person’s Accommodation Survey took place from 15 July to 16 August 

2019.  A total of 406 people completed the questionnaire which was made available online and in 

paper format in order to reach as wide an audience as possible.  Not all those who completed the 

questionnaire answered every question, the total number of respondents for each question is noted 

in the findings section below.  In addition to the survey we also spoke to numerous community and 

interest groups as well as conducting interviews with individual York residents.  Given the sensitivity 

and importance of the topic we felt that utilising both quantitative and qualitative research methods 

would enable us to explore beyond the limitations of the questionnaire.  This allowed us to gain a 

greater insight into personal opinions and learn from lived experience.     

Shown below are a series of definitions of different types of accommodation for older people which 

we provided as part of the survey.  It became clear during the qualitative phase of the research 

process that prior to completing the survey many respondents were not aware of the distinctions 

between different types of accommodation for older people.  This highlighted a need to make 

people more aware of the different types of accommodation for older people, in particular the 

different types of independent living properties available and the opportunity for a range of tenures. 

Definitions of different housing types for older people 

Retirement Housing Accommodation situated in either the general community 

or retirement community specifically for older people. 

These can be adapted to suit the needs of the occupant, 

such as level access, hand rails, wet rooms etc. Retirement 

housing allows older people to live 

completely independently. Available to buy or rent 

Page 14



Annex A 

Assisted Living/Sheltered 

Housing 

A self-contained type of accommodation governed by a 

scheme manager and operates a 24-hour emergency call 

system. Communal areas and activities are often available. 

Available to buy or rent. 

Extra Care Aimed at the frailer population, provides a 24hr on-site 

personal care service, services subject to eligibility for 

those with existing care needs, communal facilities. 

Available for rent with additional monthly charges for use 

of communal facilities and care services. 

Residential & Nursing Care A private bedroom & en-suite for each resident, 24hr 

personal care available with meals served in a communal 

dining room, a shared recreational area for activities, paid 

for on a weekly basis via self-funding & top ups from the 

local authority. 

 

Demographics of the sample 

The response rates for questions relating to demographic information varied from 227 to 293.  This 

variation may be explained by a sensitivity towards disclosing personal information on certain topics. 

In terms of age, 73% of respondents were aged 60 or above.  It could therefore be argued that the 

data collected by the survey as a whole is most representative of the views of older people.  It is 

interesting to note that responses were received from all age ranges. Around 16% of those asked 

stated they considered themselves to have a disability, 79% stated they did not and 5% opted not to 

disclose.  

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

re
sp

o
n

se
s 

(2
7

1
)

Age group

Age of respondents

16%

79%

5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Yes No Prefer not to
say

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

re
sp

o
n

se
s 

(2
8

3
)

Question: Do you consider 
yourself to be disabled?

Page 15



Annex A 

When asked about their ethnicity 89% identified as white, 1% identified as mixed, 1% identified as 

Asian and 9% opted not to disclose.  The gender split of the sample was 63% female, 34% male, 0% 

non-binary and 3% opted not to disclose. 

 

In terms of sexuality 84% stated they identified as heterosexual, 2% as bisexual, 2% as gay men, 2% 

as gay women and 10% opted not to disclose.  When those who identified as LGBTQ+ were asked 

about the importance of living with other members of the LGBTQ+ community 6% stated it was 

extremely important, 18% stated it was very important, 12% stated it was somewhat important, 41% 

stated it was not important and 24% stated it was not important at all.  Only one person identified as 

trans and 10 opted not to disclose. 

 

When asked about where they lived, it can be seen from the chart below that all areas of the city 

were represented.  There is some indication that areas with the highest response rate were areas 

89%

1%

1%

0%

0%

9%

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

White

Mixed

Asian

Black

Other ethnic background

Prefer not to say

% of total number of responses 

Ethnic group

34%

63%

0%
3%

Question: Your Gender

Male

Female

Non-
binary/Gender
Variant

Prefer not to say

2%
2%

2%

84%

10%

Question:  Which of the following 
best describes how you think of 

yourself?

Bisexual

Gay Man

Gay Woman/Lesbian

Heterosexual/Straight

Prefer not to say 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Not at all important

Not so important

Somewhat important

Very important

Extremely important

% of total number of responses

Question:  If you identify as 
LGBTQ+, how important is it for 

you to live with others who are also 
LGBTQ+?

Page 16



Annex A 

with the highest number of older people living in them.  As a result it could be argued that the 

survey was most representative of the views of older people.   

 

 

Key Findings and Results 

Question: There are lots of different types of accommodation available for older people. 
Thinking of your later years, what type of property would you like to live in?  
When asked this question the most popular response was that they would like to live in their own 

home with care and support provided, if needed (26% of all responses). A number of additional 

points were raised in relation to this during the qualitative element of the research.  

 The importance of futureproofing of homes was raised and the fact that if people are 

going to stay in their own homes then they may have to adapt them  

 If older people carry out minor adaptations to their homes (such as grab rails, hand 

rails or easy access bathing) then they are more likely to feel safe in their homes and 

feel that these adaptions have a positive impact on their health 

 Living in an unsuitable home can lead to fear and anxiety for older people, especially 

around using the bathrooms and stairs 

 Some people said that they didn’t know what services was available to them 

 Another said that she had had some adaptations done to her property by the council, 

she highly praised the service and the way that the work was carried out 

0% 1% 2% 3% 4% 5% 6% 7% 8% 9% 10%

Acomb

Bishopthorpe

Clifton

Copmanthorpe

Dringhouses & Woodthorpe

Fishergate

Fulford & Heslington

Guildhall

Haxby & Wigginton

Heworth

Heworth Without

Holgate

Hull Road

Huntington & New Earswick

Micklegate

Osbaldwick & Derwent

Rawcliffe & Clifton Without

Rural West York

Strensall

Westfield

Wheldrake

Ward Unknown

% of total number of respondents 

Geographical location of respondents

Page 17



Annex A 

 

Sixty percent of all responses to this question showed a preference for some type of independent 

living apartment or bungalow, referred to by some of the respondents as “a small, safe and 

manageable home”. Within this category the most popular options were to live in a smaller home 

either within the general community or a smaller home within a scheme specifically designed for 

people aged 65+.  The qualitative engagement highlighted the following points: 

 A manageable home reduces the stress and cost of running a larger home. It also 

allows residents to move easily around their home. These benefits can support 

residents to keep healthy, support them to live independently and reduce the need 

for home care or residential care. 

 When talking about these schemes people were very worried about a service charge 

- although people understood the need for it, they were worried about it increasing 

once they had moved into a property. One respondent spoke about a service charge 

being increased but the amount of services being offered decreasing.  

 Many people spoke about resident participation in such schemes, they liked the idea 

of a residents’ board and people getting a say in how the scheme is run 

 Although people want a private home, the idea of having a community was seen as 

very important – all groups and individuals spoken to brought this up, any scheme 

should be integrated into the local community 

 The desire to live in a multigenerational community was strong 

 This would help to combat social isolation as 24.2% said that they had days with no 

social contact 

 Most people were open to the idea of downsizing as they saw the benefits of 

wanting a safe and manageable property. 

 The major factors in this were the cost of running a larger property which did not 

appeal to them and stress of running a larger home 

 People are receptive to the idea of self-build  

 There must be provision of more specialist housing such as extra care apartments 

 This option was selected by 9% of respondents and when care is needed this option 

was preferred to residential care.  

 One man spoke about living in a bungalow which was within a care community 

complex: he liked that he could maintain his independence but he knew that he had 

the safety net of having care services which were easily available to him 

 Many people spoken to fear going into a residential or nursing or care home, 

however well designed homes and flexible care can reduce the level of admissions 

into residential care and can enable lifelong independence.  

 

During qualitative interviews it became apparent that although respondents’ current homes were 

important because they were well known surroundings which held memories, home ownership and 

having something to pass on to relatives was also a key factor.  It was also found that respondents 

were often reluctant to think about being in poor health or requiring care in later life.  

Page 18



Annex A 

 

 

Making decisions about where to live 

When asked how important it was for respondents to make the decision about where to live the vast 

majority felt that it was extremely important (73%) or very important (21%). 72% of respondents 

indicated that they would like to make the choice about where to live themselves when they are still 

able to enjoy a new home.  Just under a quarter felt that they would like to make this decision with 

their family when things got difficult.  From this it can be seen that personal choice and autonomy 

are felt to be crucial when making a decision about where to live.  

“We should talk about moving house and getting the right size of home with our families. Moving 

should not become a taboo subject”       

Alice, 73 

The responses to these questions highlighted: 

 the need for information and advice around the housing options that are available.  

 that residents are keen to make informed choices about where to live and to find an 

age appropriate home that they can enjoy.  

 

221

168

164

110

68

28

93

0 50 100 150 200 250

The home I currently live in (with some care support if
needed)

A smaller home, bungalow or apartment within the
general community

A smaller home, bungalow or apartment within a scheme
specifically for people aged 65+

An apartment in an independent living scheme with
communal lounge and activities

An apartment in an Extra Care independent living
scheme with communal lounge and activities and with 24

hour care on site.

A room or suite in a residential care home with all care,
meals, cleaning etc provided.

A self-built property within a multi-generational
community.

Number of responses

Question: There are lots of different types of accommodation available 
for older people. Thinking of your later years, what type of property 

would you like to live in? 

Page 19



Annex A 

 

 

 

The main factors identified as barriers to people from choosing where to live in later life were cost, 

location and health.  Upheaval was also considered a significant issue.  Around a sixth of those who 

answered also felt that knowing how to move could also be a barrier to them making a choice.  

Other factors that were identified as barriers included the availability of appropriate housing, a lack 

of outdoor space, having to care for other dependent family members and concerns regarding the 

loss of independence.  

Through conversation it was clear that lots of these issues could be avoided if people had 

the most appropriate information available to them and people moved into a suitable 

property when the time was right for them 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Not at all important Not so important Somewhat
important

Very important Extremely important

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l r

es
p

o
n

se
s 

(3
0

0
)

Question: How important is it for you that you make the decision about 
where you live?

72%

24%

1% 2%

Question: Which of the following statements best describes how you 
would like to make a decision about where you live? 

I would like to make the
decision myself when I am
still able to enjoy a new
home.

I would like to make the
jointly with my family when
things get difficult

I would like my family to
make a decision when it is
needed.

Other

Page 20



Annex A 

Within this a number of people that I spoke to brought up the issues of Stamp Duty and 

Land Tax and many people were worried about losing capital if they decided to right size or 

down size. Older people’s advocacy bodies have raised these issues on a national basis. 

 

 

 

When looking to make an informed and positive choice about where to live, seeking advice from 

family was identified as the most preferable option.  Advice and advocacy networks such as Age UK 

were seen as the second best source of advice followed by friends and GPs.  Care companies 

themselves were seen as the least preferable option when seeking advice.  This was also reflected by 

72% of stating that they do not feel that care providers and stakeholders have their best interests at 

heart.   

 The need to be able to trust those who are offering support and guidance was raised 

frequently in conversations.  

 One group that we spoke to said that they wanted advice and planning when looking into 

changing accommodation and downsizing, they said that any change came with fear and 

uncertainty  

o They wanted checklists for moving and downsizing guides 

o Some people had seen Elderly care advisors, who provide advice and assistance with 

moving for a fee. Many liked the idea of such services although some were wary 

about the costs of them. 

 Residents in one group recommended that the council should work out a way to ensure that 

people have good quality information about the types of accommodation, locations and 

costs so that people can make informed choices in a timely and considered way. 

o “It is all about nudging people in the right direction, it is not about new council 

policy, it is about supporting people to make their own choices”.  

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

Cost Location Upheaval Health Knowing how to
do it

Other (please
specify)

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
se

s

Question:  What would prevent you from choosing where you'd like to 
live in your later years? Please select all that apply 

Page 21



Annex A 

 

 

 

Home ownership 

Given that 81% of York’s over 75s own their own home, more people than expected were open to 

other types of tenure. 

More than half of those who answered the question about home ownership stated that owning their 

own home was either extremely important (30%) or very important (23%).  Around a quarter of 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Family Friends GP Care
companies

The local
council

Citizens
Advice

Advice
groups and
Advocacy
networks

(e.g. Age UK)

Other
(please
specify)

%
 o

f 
to

ta
l n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

re
sp

o
n

se
s

Question: There are a number of advice networks available for older 
people when they are looking into types of residential care. When 

making informed and positive choices, of the options below, who would 
you trust to help you make these choices? 

28%

72%

Question:  There are many different stakeholders and providers that 
play a role in the provision of care. Do you think that these stakeholders 

have your best interests at heart? 

Yes No

Page 22



Annex A 

respondents stated that home ownership was not so important (12%) or not important at all (11%).  

As previously discussed, having an asset to pass on to relatives was a key factor in home ownership, 

however knowledge of shared ownership schemes appeared relatively low. 

A mixture of tenures is needed so that people have the opportunity to make a choice about 

where and how they live, these options could include shared ownership. 

“I want to leave something behind for my children, if I rent then it is more difficult to do so” 

Elizabeth, 65 

 

 

Onsite facilities and services 

The following section explores the opinions of respondents when asked to consider 15 facilities and 

services in accommodation for older people.   

 Access to amenities and public transport is vital 

o Unsurprisingly it is vital for this age group to be close to both shops and 

public transport, having amenities close to older persons accommodation 

makes it easier for people to live independent lives for longer   

o One group highlighted the importance of not being dependent on a car 
o Being close to family and friends was identified as extremely important by over half 

of respondents. The main motivation was to avoid being dependent on a car due to 

concerns driving could become an issue in later life. 

 

“Nowadays I want to drive less and less - even to places I know well” 

Norman, 77 

 

 Private space is of paramount importance – The issues raised included: 

o Having a safe and secure property  

o Facilities to cook own meals is part of this  

o An area where you can be totally yourself 

Extremely important
30%

Very important
23%

Somewhat important
24%

Not so important
12%

Not at all important
11%

Question:  81% of over 75s own their own home. How important is it for 
you to own where you live? 

Page 23



Annex A 

 This includes LGBTQ, there is a risk that people go back into the 

closet. 

 There should be schemes which are LGBTQ friendly  

 Care home training, nobody should be forced to go back into the 

closet  

 

 A manageable home that is accessible and level – many respondents highlighted the 

benefits of having a home that is accessible and level.  
 

“One of my biggest fears is falling” 

Mary, 80 

 

o The benefits of a manageable and single storey home are plenty  

o Everyone that we spoke to said this was important  

 This is more important for respondents than having a home that is 

familiar and holds memories 

o Outdoor space is seen as very important, some people were keen to have a 

private garden and others were open to a communal garden or courtyard 

 If people were living in a flat then many people were keen to have a 

balcony 

 The importance of not feeling trapped was significant  

 If people were unable to have any outdoor space then one group said 

that proximity to a park would be acceptable as an alternative 

o Some people receive call rounds and reminders, they liked this as a non-

intrusive way of checking up  

 

 It was somewhat important for almost 50% of people that care services were 

available on site. If people have age friendly homes then elements of care provision 

can be built in 

o Although people want to live independent lives it is still important for people 

to have access to care 

o People must therefore have information readily available to them about the 

types of care services that are available to them  

o This links into having artificial intelligence and technology  

o Many people do not think it is their responsibility to pay for care themselves  

 

 Respondents regularly raised the lack of appropriate information about older 

persons’ accommodation – Information to enable positive choices   

o One of the views expressed the most when talking to people is that they did 

not know the types of accommodation that were available to them  

Page 24



Annex A 

o People stay in their own homes which are often unsuitable because they 

don’t know what is available to them 

 We spoke to a number of people who said if they knew what was 

available then they would have moved.  

 This was especially prevalent for home share, when asked in 

interview people had not heard of the scheme but many were 

receptive to the idea of it  

 In addition to this people don’t know what is available to them and 

what they are entitled to   

 People don’t know what the council can offer them 

 The local council was only trusted by 1/5th of respondents, this could 

be because many were unsure of the support available and believed 

that budget cuts meant that they couldn’t get help. 

 

 

 

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Having my
own private
space (Total
responses:

303)

Access to
outdoor

space (Total
responses:

304)

Having a
home that I
can manage

(Total
responses:

295)

Access to
good public

transport
(Total

responses:
302)

Facilities to
cook my own
meals (Total
responses:

300)

Close to
shops (Total
responses:

298)

Having a
home that is

accessible
and level

(Total
responses:

294)

Close to
friends and

family (Total
responses:

298)

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

to
ta

l r
es

p
o

n
se

s

Question: Thinking about the range of facilities and services available in 
older persons accommodation, which of the following would be 

important to you?

Not at all important Not so important Somewhat important Very important Extremely important

Page 25



Annex A 

 

Specific questions about cost and affordability were not included in the questionnaire but were 

topics that often came up during qualitative interviews.  It was also identified that there was a need 

for affordable housing for older people that sat between social rented markets and luxury private 

developments. 

Assistive technologies 

In addition to questions about the importance of onsite services and facilities respondents were also 

asked a series of questions about their thoughts and feelings towards the use of assistive 

technologies and the potential application of such technologies within their homes.   

When asked for their opinion of assistive technologies such as sensors and prompts in their 

properties the vast majority (83%) of respondents stated that they would be comfortable with the 

presence of such technologies.  

 People were open to the idea of having reminders, sensors and voice activated alarms 

for assistance  

 Where people selected  'Other' types of technology responses included: Help with 

household maintenance e.g. cleaning robots grocery shopping, locating items (keys, 

glasses etc) 

 Respondents were on the whole very comfortable with this data being seen by GPs, 

Families and to a slightly lesser extent to care companies  

 One interviewee said that “if my information could be shared with my GP and that 

could save me a trip to the doctors, then that would be great” 

 This area is the one with the most scope for development and innovation as it offers an 

exciting opportunity to enable independence  

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Having a home
that I am used
to and holds

memories
(Total

responses:
293)

Having pets
allowed (Total

responses:
295)

Access to
activities and

entertainment
(Total

responses:
296)

Having care
services

available on
site (Total
responses:

292)

A shared
lounge space
to meet and

socialise (Total
responses:

299)

Having a daily
hot meal
provided

(Total
responses:

298)

With people of
the same faith,
community or
interests (Total

responses:
293)

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

to
ta

l r
es

p
o

n
se

s
Question: Thinking about the range of facilities and services available in 

older persons accommodation, which of the following would be 
important to you? (continued)

Not at all important Not so important Somewhat important Very important Extremely important

Page 26



Annex A 

 

 

 

When it came to who they felt comfortable seeing the data generated by assistive technology only 

7% of respondents stated that they would not want anyone seeing the data. Additional suggestions 

of who this data may be shared with included friends and neighbours, anyone with a need for the 

data, companies that handle data, city planning departments, homebuilders and emergency 

services. 

   

Yes
83%

No
17%

Question: Technology and artificial intelligence have advanced into 
assisting people with their lives and care. Would you feel comfortable 

with this type of technology (e.g. sensors and prompts) in your 
property? 

84%

70%

40% 36%

80%

5%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Reminders Sensors Automated
curtains, kettle

etc

Automated blood
oxygen or blood

pressure
monitors

Voice activated
alarms for
assistance

Other (please
specify)

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

to
ta

l n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Question: This technology may have the capacity to provide assistance 
and also gather data. What do you think would be helpful? Please select 

all that apply

Page 27



Annex A 

 

 

Conclusions  

Autonomy when making decisions about where to live in later life is extremely important, however 

awareness of the types of accommodation and support available varies.  Raising awareness of the 

types of accommodation available should be prioritised to enable people to make informed 

decisions and select the type of accommodation most suitable for them.  Home ownership is also 

extremely important therefore opportunities for different types of tenure, including shared 

ownership should be made available and well publicised.   

The most trusted sources for help and advice when making a decision about where to live are family 

and advocacy groups like Age UK, therefore making sure comprehensive up to date information is 

readily available through a variety of means should be a priority.   

When thinking about accommodation in later life the most important factors are privacy, access to 

outdoor space and living in a manageable home.  Being part of a community and the benefits of 

living in appropriate accommodation in the right location are also viewed as key factors.    

York needs to adapt to changing demographics and preferences, it should address the lack of 

purpose built affordable accommodation for retirement living. There is a demand for homes which 

are safe, manageable and affordable within the city. The city should seek to support developers who 

can provide homes which are age friendly. Pursuing this would have knock on beneficial effects for 

the city, it would free up more family homes into the market. 

There appears to be a strong appetite for assistive technologies with the potential benefits 

recognised by many.  With this in mind pursuing opportunities to integrate assistive technologies 

into accommodation for older people would seem prudent.  In the future further research targeted 

at minority groups within the city would be beneficial to ensure that views are represented and all 

needs are met. 

Recommendations  

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Nobody GP Family Care services Other (please specify)

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 o
f 

to
ta

l n
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
re

sp
o

n
d

en
ts

Question: Who would you feel comfortable with seeing this data? Please 
select all that apply 

Page 28



Annex A 

In response to this research and to make sure that York’s residents benefit from these findings the 

following actions are recommended: 

 Considering the population increases that are expected over the next 10 years it is 

imperative that action is taken to ease the strain on housing supply, the city should look to 

attract developers to help to increase the number of age friendly housing units.  

 The provision of housing in the city should include a mix of housing types and 

tenures to meet the needs of our older residents. 

o A focus should be on age friendly apartments and bungalows, but options 

including independent living schemes and provision of extra care should also 

be available 

o Opportunities should be taken to ensure that major housing sites have a 10% 

provision for age friendly accommodation 

 Alongside any development there should be an information campaign which shows 

older people the types of options and support that are available. This should be a 

joint campaign between council services and advocacy networks, so that all partners 

are providing similar information. This would be a cost effective way of informing 

people so that they know their options. This should include: 

o Training for front line staff about housing options and the benefits of 

manageable homes 

o Easily accessible information about the housing options, the process for 

moving house and the financial implications of moving home. 

o Greater cohesion between the council and advocacy networks to ensure that 

information is shared and advice and support is consistent. 

 This research should only be a starting point and those involved in supporting people 

to live well in later life must listen to people throughout the process about what is 

important to them 

 Opportunities to develop and introduce assistive technology to support 

independence should be explored. 

 To help make life long independence a reality there should be an increase in 

specialist housing advisors and advocates to provide more support. 

 Consider the development of Help to Move schemes.  

 Ensure that developments have an accessible transport network close by to avoid 

isolation 

 

Ends 

With thanks to all of our consultees and partners who participated in this research.  

Thank You to Age UK York who helped to distribute the survey questionnaires and who have given 

their backing to the results and recommendations in this report.  

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Older Persons Accommodation Engagement Results and Future Actions
	Annex A


